STATE OF MICHIGAN  
SUPREME COURT

In re:

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_

THE ROBERT E. WHITTON  
REVOCABLE TRUST.

Court of Appeals  
Case No. 337828

\_\_\_\_\_

Oakland County Probate Court  
File No. 2016-372,116-TV

MOLLY MICHALUK,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v

EDDIE WHITTON and  
RICHARD WHITTON,  
Successor Trustees of the  
ROBERT E. WHITTON REVOCABLE TRUST,

Respondents-Appellees.

Kemp Klein Law Firm  
Robert S. Zawideh (P43787)  
Richard Bisio (P30246)  
Attorneys for Petitioner-Appellant  
Molly Michaluk  
201 W. Big Beaver, Suite 600  
Troy, MI 48084  
248 528-1111

McDonald Hopkins PLC  
Michael P. Witzke (P42692)  
Michael G. Latiff (P51263)

### **Statement of Appellate Jurisdiction**

This Court has jurisdiction under MCR 7.303(B)(1) to “review by appeal a case ... after decision by the Court of Appeals.” This application is timely filed within 42 days after the August 9, 2018 Court of Appeals opinion. MCR 7.305(C)(2)(a).

### Judgment Appealed From and Relief Requested

Petitioner-appellant Molly Michaluk seeks leave to appeal the August 9, 2018 Court of Appeals opinion. She is a beneficiary of her deceased father Robert Whitton's trust. She filed a petition for instructions regarding modification of the trust. The trust includes an *in terrorem* clause that would disinherit Molly if she challenged provisions of the trust. The petition asked for a declaration that, if she sought to modify the trust to provide for what her father said he wanted in the trust shortly before his final illness, that would not trigger the *in terrorem* clause or, alternatively, there would be probable cause under MCL 700.7113 to seek modification so that the *in terrorem* clause would not apply. The probate court dismissed the petition, holding that a petition to modify the trust would violate the *in terrorem* clause. The Court of Appeals affirmed on alternative grounds, holding that the probate court should have dismissed the petition because it "present[ed] an unripe and nonjusticiable issue."

Ms. Michaluk requests this Court to grant leave to appeal because the Court of Appeals decision is contrary to settled law that a party can seek a declaratory judgment to guide future conduct. The decision undermines the utility of declaratory judgments. No longer would a party be able to bring an actual controversy to court without first taking action that could expose them to liability. Parties would not be able to seek advance guidance where there is an actual controversy about their rights. Trustees and beneficiaries could not seek a declaration of rights that involve a trust, trustee, or trust beneficiary.

### Statement of Questions Involved

1. Can a person who may be subject to a penalty for taking certain action obtain a declaration of rights that involve a trust, trustee, or trust beneficiary before taking that action in order to guide the person's future conduct?

The probate court did not address this question.

The Court of Appeals said "no."

Appellant Molly Michaluk says "yes."

2. Can a no-contest (*in terrorem*) clause in a trust—providing that a beneficiary who challenges or contests the trust or becomes an adverse party for restatement of the terms of the trust—divest a probate court of its statutory power to modify the trust?

The probate court said "yes."

The Court of Appeals did not address this question.

Appellant says "no."

3. Would a petition to modify the trust here be within the scope of the trust's no-contest clause, where the proposed petition neither challenges nor contests the original trust or the three amendments to that trust and where the trust provides that the beneficiaries shall be bound by an order modifying the trust?

The probate court said "yes."

The Court of Appeals did not address this question.

Appellant says "no."

4. If a petition to modify the trust here would be within the scope of the trust's no-contest clause, is there probable cause to file the petition, making the no-contest clause inapplicable?

The probate court said "no."

The Court of Appeals did not address this question.

Appellant says "yes."

5. If a petition to modify the trust here would be within the scope of the trust's no-contest clause, was the probate court wrong to dismiss the petition for instructions without allowing appellant to conduct discovery on the issue of probable cause?

The probate court said "no."

The Court of Appeals did not address this question.

Appellant says "yes."

## Introduction and Reasons for Granting Leave

The purpose of a declaratory judgment is to obtain guidance before a party takes action that may result in liability. As the Court of Appeals said in its opinion, declaratory relief is appropriate “to guide or direct future conduct. In such situations, courts are not precluded from reaching issues before actual injuries or losses have occurred.” COA opinion, p 4 (exhibit 1), quoting *Huntington Woods v Detroit*, 279 Mich App 603, 616; 761 NW2d 127 (2008). But the Court of Appeals here undermined that purpose by holding that Molly Michaluk could not seek a declaratory judgment of her rights and liabilities if she filed a petition to modify her deceased father’s trust. She sought this ruling because the trust has an *in terrorem* clause that would disinherit Molly if she challenged provisions of the trust.<sup>1</sup> It was not clear whether that clause would apply to a petition to modify the trust, as distinguished from one that directly challenged a trust provision. The Court of Appeals concluded that “It is by no means a certainty that [Ms. Michaluk] will, in the end, file a petition to modify the trust” and therefore her “hypothetical future petition” presented “an unripe and nonjusticiable issue.” COA opinion, pp 4, 6, 3.

In requiring a “certainty” that future action take place, the Court of Appeals undermined the purpose of a declaratory judgment. The reason for a declaratory judgment is to guide future conduct *before* a person risks liability by taking action. By definition, the contemplated future conduct is “hypothetical.” If a declaratory judgment is unavailable to

---

<sup>1</sup> Molly Michaluk is *not* challenging or contesting any provision of her late father’s trust or its amendments. There is no question those documents were properly executed and express Robert Whitton’s intent at the time he signed each of those instruments.

guide possible future action, a person must then risk liability by actually taking the action and cannot seek court guidance beforehand. Here that means that Molly must risk being disinherited if she files a petition to modify her father's trust and she cannot seek a declaratory judgment to guide her future conduct. By eliminating the basic purpose of a declaratory judgment, the Court of Appeals opinion presents "a legal principle of major significance to the state's jurisprudence" that deserves this Court's review. MCR 7.305(B)(3). The Court of Appeals followed an old decision that this Court later repudiated. That also is reason for granting leave. MCR 7.305(B)(5)(b). And, the decision requires Molly to either give up an attempt to carry out her father's intent or risk being disinherited if she goes forward. The decision is "clearly erroneous and will cause material injustice," another reason for this Court's review. MCR 7.305(B)(5)(a).

## Statement of Facts

### I. Nature of the Action

Molly Michaluk is the only child of decedent Robert E. Whitton and a beneficiary of his trust. Robert was never married to Molly's mother, with whom he had an estranged and litigious relationship. Despite that, Robert and Molly in 2008 developed a strong and loving father-daughter relationship. Following the death of his girlfriend, Robert's view of his relationship with his daughter changed and he told his closest friends he wanted Molly to receive one-third of his entire trust and estate upon his death. In November 2014, when he went to the hospital for what he thought was a "meet and greet" with a heart specialist, he learned that his condition was far more serious than initially thought. He was immediately admitted to the hospital and the doctors determined he needed a heart and liver transplant. Soon after that, Robert met with his lawyer to draft an amendment to his trust. The amendment didn't carry out his intentions and Robert fired the lawyer shortly before he underwent double transplant surgery to replace his heart and liver. His condition deteriorated and he passed away without the opportunity to amend his trust as he said he wanted to before the surgery. After his surgery, Robert's brother sequestered him and lied to Molly about his condition. Robert passed away without the opportunity to even speak to his daughter again.

Molly Michaluk wants the probate court to modify the trust to carry out Robert's intent, which he expressed to not fewer than three different people, not including Molly. But, because the trust has a no-contest clause, Molly first asked the court to rule that a petition to modify either did not come within the scope of the no-contest clause or, if it did,

there was probable cause for a petition to modify, making the no-contest clause inapplicable. The issue on appeal is whether the Court of Appeals was wrong in saying that this petition was not ripe and was nonjusticiable.

## II. Summary of Facts

The facts here are from Molly Michaluk's petition, attachments to the petition, and other filings in the case.<sup>2</sup>

Robert Whitton was a successful businessman who accumulated a substantial estate. He had one daughter, Molly Michaluk, who was born out of wedlock. Raschke affidavit, ¶ 5 (exhibit 6); Michaluk affidavit, ¶ 4 (exhibit 10). Robert had an estranged and litigious relationship with Molly's mother.<sup>3</sup> Initially, Robert was not a part of Molly's life. Raschke affidavit, ¶ 5; Michaluk affidavit, ¶ 4. This was one of Robert's greatest regrets. Raschke affidavit, ¶ 5. In 2008, Robert connected with Molly and began to build with her the father-daughter relationship that eventually became for him the most valuable thing in his life. Raschke affidavit, ¶ 6; Michaluk affidavit, ¶¶ 5-6. Over the following years, Robert often spoke about his love for his daughter and the pride he felt in the person that Molly had become. Raschke affidavit, ¶ 7.

---

<sup>2</sup> As discussed in the standard of review section of the argument, the probate court decision on review here is a summary disposition decision under MCR 2.116(I)(1). In deciding a summary disposition motion, the facts are viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary disposition. *Maiden v Rozwood*, 461 Mich 109, 120; 597 NW2d 817 (1999) (summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10)); *Ellison v Dep't of State*, 320 Mich App 169, 175; 906 NW2d 221 (2017) (under 2.116(I)(1)).

<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals issued an opinion in *Michaluk v Whitton*, unpublished opinion per curiam issued August 27, 1996 (docket no. 170452), on the litigation about child support between Molly's mother and Robert.



Robert created a trust in 1992, restated it in 2003, and amended it in 2003, 2012, and 2013. Exhibits 13-16. The trust included a gift to Molly of one-third of two securities accounts. Second Amendment, pp 1-4 (exhibit 15). As amended, the trust also contains the following no-contest clause:

D. Challenge to Trust Terms: Loss of Interest or Reduction of Share by Costs of Challenge. If any beneficiary under this Trust, or any person acting with or without court approval on behalf of a beneficiary or heir of this Trust, challenges or contests any provision of this Trust Agreement, or becomes an adverse party in a proceeding for restatement of the terms of this Trust, including specifically Lura (Ann) Maples, it is Grantor's intention that such beneficiary shall receive no portion of Grantor's estate, nor any benefits under this Trust Agreement and such beneficiary or beneficiaries shall forfeit his or her interest under this Trust and such forfeited interest shall be divided proportionately among the residual beneficiaries of this Trust as provided in Article VII, Paragraph B, above. If a Court of competent jurisdiction blocks the above provisions disinheriting such person(s), it is Grantor's desire that, at a minimum, all actual legal fees and costs incurred by the Trust in defending against the claims of such challenge or challenges shall reduce the trust share of the challenging beneficiary or beneficiaries on a dollar for dollar basis by the actual legal fees and costs expended by the Trust to defend against such action or actions. It is Grantor's desire that this special allocation of fees and costs be done to not penalize any non-challenging beneficiary of this Trust for a beneficiary's challenge, and to prevent a challenging beneficiary (or more than one) from creating pressure on the non-challenging beneficiaries to settle with such beneficiary because of legal fees incurred or estimated will be incurred as a result of such challenge. The purpose of this paragraph D is not and shall not be construed to limit the appearance by any heir or beneficiary as a witness in any proceeding for the construction of this Trust or a term of this Trust, nor to limit his or her appearance in any capacity in a proceeding for its construction. Nor will it be a challenge or contest if the Trustee or a beneficiary seeks court interpretation of ambiguous or uncertain provisions in this Agreement or to collect a debt owed to a beneficiary provided that probable cause exists for such challenge or contest. "Probable cause" shall exist only when the contesting party's retained legal representative: (1) has conducted a reasonable investigation; (2) has determined that there is admissible evidence that would cause a reasonable person, properly informed and advised, to conclude that there is a substantial likelihood that the contest would be successful on its merits; and (3) has delivered a written

certified report to the contesting party; which report specifies the factual evidence that the legal representative relies on to conclude that ‘probable cause’ exists. The Successor Trustees have the right to request a ruling by the court hearing such action as to the merits of the contesting party’s probable cause for bringing the action under the above standard after review of the certified report of the contesting party’s legal representative. If no report is submitted or if the court rules that no probably [*sic*] cause existed at the time that the action was initiated then the Successor Trustees are authorized to allocate the expenses of the Trust’s actual legal fees and costs to reduce the separate share of the beneficiary or beneficiaries that initiated the legal action.

Second Amendment, ¶ D, pp 7-8 (exhibit 15).

In November 2014, Robert went to the Baylor University Medical School Hospital in Dallas, Texas for what he thought was a “meet and greet” with a heart specialist. Raschke affidavit, ¶ 8 (exhibit 6); Eddie Whitton<sup>4</sup> deposition, p 10 (exhibit 4) (Robert went there for a checkup); Sandy Rhineberger affidavit, ¶ 11 (exhibit 8) (went there for a “meet and greet”; Robert thought he would need a heart transplant in three years); Richard Whitton<sup>5</sup> deposition, p 13 (exhibit 5) (Robert “was hoping he had a couple of years to go on that heart”). But, on the day of his arrival, he learned his condition was much more serious than he thought and that he needed a heart and liver transplant. Raschke affidavit, ¶ 8; Sandy Rhineberger affidavit, ¶¶ 9-11. “As soon as they looked at him they knew that that heart was about at the end of the line. They told him that he wouldn’t be leaving there, that he would need a transplant.” Richard Whitton deposition, p 13. He was immediately admitted

---

<sup>4</sup> Eddie was Robert’s brother.

<sup>5</sup> Richard was Robert’s brother.

to the hospital on November 11, 2014. Sandy Rhineberger affidavit, ¶ 10. His heart stopped twice shortly after that and the medical staff revived him. *Id.*, ¶ 14.

Both before and after his admission to the hospital, Robert told his close friends on many occasions that he planned to give Molly one-third of his entire trust and estate. Raschke affidavit, ¶¶ 9-10 (exhibit 6); Sandy Rhineberger affidavit, ¶¶ 19-20 (exhibit 8); John Rhineberger affidavit, ¶¶ 13-15. Exhibit 9.

A couple of weeks after his admission into the hospital, Robert flew his lawyer from Michigan to Texas and met with him to draft an amendment to his trust. Raschke affidavit, ¶ 11 (exhibit 6); Sadecki deposition, pp 10, 14-15 (exhibit 7);<sup>6</sup> Richard Whitton deposition, pp 22-23 (exhibit 5). The attorney drafted an amendment. Sadecki deposition, pp 30-31;<sup>7</sup> exhibit 7 (unsigned fourth amendment). But the amendment did not provide for one-third of the entire trust and estate to go to Molly Michaluk and did not provide for other things that Robert had discussed with his attorney, Ed Raschke, and his brothers. Robert refused to sign it because “This is not what I asked for.” Eddie Whitton deposition, pp 28-29, 33 (exhibit 4). *Accord*, Richard Whitton deposition, pp 28, 43-44; Eddie Whitton deposition, p 25. He fired Sadecki as his attorney on Christmas Eve. Sadecki deposition, p 29. In the intervening week between Christmas and New Year’s—while he was in his hospital bed in

---

<sup>6</sup> Mark Sadecki was Robert Whitton’s attorney. Sadecki deposition, pp 6-7 (exhibit 7).

<sup>7</sup> Although Sadecki’s testimony is somewhat evasive, the parties do not dispute that the amendment was drafted as a result of the meeting in which Robert Whitton discussed matters regarding disposition of his assets. *See* Sadecki deposition, pp 14-15 (exhibit 7), regarding a nonprivileged part of that discussion.

Texas waiting for his upcoming double transplant surgery on New Year's Day, Robert did not retain a new attorney or have another amendment drafted.

Robert had double transplant surgery, receiving a new heart and liver on January 1, 2015. Sandy Rhineberger affidavit, ¶¶ 16, 28 (exhibit 8); Eddie Whitton deposition, pp 13, 18 (exhibit 4). After the surgery, Robert's brother restricted access to Robert and lied to Molly about her father's condition. Sandy Rhineberger affidavit, ¶ 29; Eddie Whitton deposition, p 19; Michaluk affidavit, ¶¶ 13-14 (exhibit 11). For the rest of his life, Robert was in hospitals or rehabilitation facilities and was either on drug cocktails, in a coma, or not coherent. Richard Whitton deposition, pp 15, 20-22 (exhibit 5); transcript 2/15/17, p 15 (exhibit 12) (statement by appellees' attorney that "he never fully recovered. He was somewhat non-responsive from then until the end of his life ..."). Robert passed away on July 11, 2015. Sandy Rhineberger affidavit, ¶ 3.

While all this was happening, Robert's brothers isolated Molly and didn't let her know about her father's situation. Michaluk affidavit, ¶¶ 11-14 (exhibit 10). She didn't know about his health situation until the day of his death. *Id.*, ¶¶ 15-19. Robert's family immediately threatened Molly that, if she questioned how they handled Robert's estate, she would get nothing. *Id.*, ¶¶ 24-25.

### **III. Proceedings Below**

#### **A. Probate Court**

Molly Michaluk filed her petition for instructions seeking a ruling that (1) the no-contest clause would not apply to a petition to modify the trust or, (2) if the no-contest clause applied, it would not be enforceable because there was probable cause under

MCL 700.7113 to seek to modify the trust. Exhibit 11. The petition did not seek to modify the trust. Rather it sought a declaratory ruling that, if Ms. Michaluk did file a petition to modify the trust, it would not run afoul of the no-contest clause. *Id.*, ¶ 45. The petition was supported by five affidavits and the transcript of a deposition taken in a related matter.<sup>8</sup> The respondents were Eddie and Richard Whitton, Robert’s brothers, who were successor co-trustees of the trust.

The parties filed several briefs. Appellees filed no affidavits supporting their briefs. The court held a hearing. Transcript 2/15/17 (exhibit 12). Two days later, it entered an opinion and order denying the petition. Exhibit 2.

The opinion summarized the facts set out above. Probate opinion, pp 2-3 (exhibit 2). In one paragraph, the opinion concluded that “a petition seeking to amend the Trust would violate the *in terrorem* clause.” *Id.*, p 7. The opinion went on to address the alternative argument that, even if a petition to modify the trust would violate the no-contest clause, the clause would not be enforceable because there would be probable cause to file a petition to modify. It concluded that there would be no probable cause to seek to modify the trust under MCL 700.7412(2) because that requires a showing of “circumstances not anticipated by the settlor” and illness and death of the settlor cannot be unanticipated circumstances. Probate opinion, p 7. The court denied the petition. *Id.*, p 8.

Appellees argued that Ms. Michaluk violated the no-contest clause by merely filing the petition for instructions. The probate court rejected that claim because the petition

---

<sup>8</sup> The pertinent exhibits to the petition are attached separately to this brief.

“does not challenge or contest the terms of the Trust” and Ms. Michaluk was only “seeking instruction from this Court, which is not a violation of the *in terrorem* clause of the Trust.” Probate opinion, p 8 (exhibit 2).<sup>9</sup>

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