STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

In re:

Supreme Court File No. 158408

THE ROBERT E. WHITTON REVOCABLE
TRUST u/a/d November 6, 1992, as restated
June 10, 2003, and as amended July 30, 2003,
January 5, 2012, and again November 21, 2013

COA Docket No. 337828
Oakland County Probate Court
File No. 2016-372,116-TV

MOLLY MICHALUK,

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

EDDIE WHITTON and RICHARD WHITTON,
Successor Trustees of the ROBERT E. WHITTON
REVOCABLE TRUST,

Respondents/Appellees.

**RESPONDENTS/APPELLEES' RESPONSE BRIEF TO
PETITIONER/APPELLANT'S APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL**

KEMP KLEIN LAW FIRM
Robert S. Zawideh (P43787)
Richard Bisio (P30246)
201 West Big Beaver, Suite 600

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

ARGUMENT

Michaluk is a disappointed beneficiary of her father's Trust who sought to "modify" her father's grant to her of slightly over \$1 million to one-third of his entire Trust assets. Yet she seeks to avoid triggering the *in terrorem* clause of the Trust whereby Whitton specified that any beneficiary who challenged or contested the terms of the Trust should receive nothing. By filing the Petition for Instructions, rather than her actual Petition for Modification, Michaluk sought a preliminary ruling on whether the *in terrorem* clause would apply to her Petition for Modification. She also sought a preliminary ruling on whether or not there was probable cause for her to file the Petition for Modification, such that the *in terrorem* clause would not be enforced.

The purpose of a declaratory judgment action is to determine rights and potential liabilities of the parties, usually in the context of construing a contract or a statute, so that the parties are not faced with an ambiguity that puts them in doubt about those rights and liabilities. Here, there is no doubt that Michaluk has a right to file the Petition for Modification. She will suffer no liability if she does not. She is not seeking to avoid liability – rather, she is seeking an advance opinion on whether she will win on the Petition for Modification and thus obtain a greater piece of Whitton's estate than her father provided for her in the Trust. That is not a proper use of the declaratory judgment rule.

The very purpose of an *in terrorem* clause is to avoid expensive litigation against an estate or trust by a disgruntled beneficiary by placing a steep price on initiating litigation – the loss of any interest in the trust. Michaluk cannot have her cake and eat it too. She seeks to end run the purpose of the *in terrorem* clause by bringing her litigation disguised as a Petition for

Instructions, thus precipitating the very litigation such a clause is intended to preclude. Such a technique would completely eviscerate the intent and value of *in terrorem* clauses.

I. Michaluk does not meet the standard for granting an application for leave to appeal to this Court.

Michaluk goes too far when she claims that the “Court of Appeals followed an old decision that this Court later repudiated.” (Appl at 2). Michaluk wrongly concludes that this Court effectively overruled *McLeod* in *Allstate Insurance Co v Hayes*, 442 Mich 56; 499 NW 2d 743 (1993). *Allstate* was a case involving a declaratory judgment action challenging insurance coverage. In footnote eight of the *Allstate* case, this Court referred to a treatise on declaratory judgments and outlined a history of the Declaratory Judgment Act, noting that the *McLeod* case had been criticized in a law review note. That hardly constitutes this Court repudiating *McLeod*.

The Court of Appeals’ opinion in this case did not “eliminate[e] the basic purpose of a declaratory judgment,” as Michaluk claims, and does not present “a legal principle of major significance to the state’s jurisprudence.” Thus it is not grounds for this Court to grant the Application for Leave to Appeal. Moreover, the decision does not require Michaluk to give up an attempt to carry out her father’s intent. She simply must take on the risk that the *in terrorem* clause intended – that the effect of her decision could have unpleasant consequences. The decision is not clearly erroneous causing a material injustice. The Application for Leave to Appeal should be denied.

II. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Michaluk’s Petition for Instructions was not ripe.

A. A petition for instructions is a vehicle for a trustee to ask the court for direction, not for a beneficiary to ask for an advisory opinion.

In order to avoid the application of the *in terrorem* or no-contest clause in the Trust and lose what Whitton had already provided for her, Michaluk presented a Petition for Instructions

that attached a proposed Petition for Modification of the Trust. She asked the trial court for an advance ruling as to whether, *if* she filed the Petition for Modification, she would be in violation of the *in terrorem* clause. As the Court of Appeals put it, “Petitioner sought legal advice from the probate court regarding whether she would lose her inheritance if she were to seek to modify the trust.” Op at 4. She presented the court with a hypothetical question and asked for an advisory opinion – the classic definition of a non-justiciable controversy.

MCL 700.1302 provides exclusive jurisdiction of the probate court over the following:

(b) A proceeding that concerns the validity, internal affairs, or settlement of a trust, the administration, distribution, modification, reformation, or termination of a trust; or the declaration of rights that involve a trust, trustee, or trust beneficiary, including, but not limited to, proceedings to do all of the following:

* * *

(vi) Instruct a trustee and determine relative to a trustee the existence or nonexistence of an immunity, power, privilege, duty, or right.

(Emphasis added). MCL 700.7201 adopts the jurisdictional extent of the probate court’s intervention in trust administration, providing:

(3) A proceeding involving a trust may relate to any matter involving the trust’s administration, including a request for instructions and a determination regarding the validity, internal affairs, or settlement of a trust; the administration, distribution, modification, reformation, or termination of a trust; or the declaration of rights that involve a trust, trustee, or trust beneficiary, including, but not limited to, proceedings to do any of the following:

* * *

(f) Instruct a trustee and determine relative to a trustee the existence or nonexistence of an immunity, power, privilege, duty, or right.

MCL 700.7201(3)(f) (emphasis added).

Michaluk asserts that the Michigan Trust Code specifically provides for a petition for instructions by a beneficiary, citing to *In re Edwards Trust*, Docket No 317114, 2014 WL 5163663 (Mich App October 14, 2014). Michaluk is correct in noting that *Edwards* explicitly

upheld a petition for instructions, but it was a petition for instructions by the trustee, not a beneficiary.

The distinction is that, as a general principle, when a trustee is in reasonable doubt as to the extent of his powers or as to the proper manner in which to proceed under the trust, he may apply to the court for directions on how to proceed. *Gilmer v Gilmer*, 245 Ala 450, 453-454; 17 So 2d 529 (1944). But when a beneficiary is seeking a construction of a will or trust, the court of equity must have some other reason to take jurisdiction, such as to declare and enforce a trust or the protection of property rights in the trust. *Id.* at 454. The Alabama Supreme Court in *Gilmer* was considering the same question as here – whether there was an actual case or controversy presented by the beneficiary – and held that a construction in the abstract was not appropriate. *Id.*

Michaluk, as a beneficiary, was not entitled to bring a Petition for Instructions, as contemplated by MCL 700.1302 and MCL 700.7201(3)(f). As the Court of Appeals noted, Michaluk “was really asking the probate court for a declaration regarding whether a petition to modify the trust would violate the *in terrorem* clause of the trust.” Op at 4.

B. The declaratory judgment rule does not authorize the court to rule where there is no actual case or controversy.

The purpose of the declaratory judgment rule, MCR 2.605(A)(1), is to declare parties’ rights and duties and guide future conduct, but the cases Michaluk cites do not support the proposition that the rule authorizes advisory opinions on hypothetical situations. (Appl at 15) .

In the case of *Barrow v Detroit Election Commission*, 305 Mich App 649, 854 NW2d 489 (2014), the Court of Appeals construed Detroit’s city charter together with a Michigan statute that established requirements for write-in candidates to determine whether the city could count the write-in votes cast in a particular election and whether the absentee ballots were

adequate. While the court noted that arguably the question was moot since the election had already taken place, a moot issue would be reviewed if it is likely to recur, yet likely to evade judicial review. *Id.* at 659-60.

Michaluk cites *Rose v State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co*, 274 Mich App 291, 294; 732 NW2d 160 (2006), for the proposition that the declaratory judgment rule “allows a party ‘to obtain adjudication of rights before an actual injury occurs.’” But *Rose* involved the interpretation of the no-fault statute and whether a jury or a judge should determine what future benefits would be reasonable and necessary for treatment of the plaintiff before the insurer was required to pay for them, which was an actual controversy between the insured and the insurer.

Mchaluk cites to the case of *Durant v Michigan*, 456 Mich 175; 566 NW2d 272 (1997), for the broad principle that “[a]ctions for declaratory relief are intended to minimize avoidable losses and the unnecessary accrual of damages.” *Durant* involved three actions brought by groups of taxpayers and school districts to compel the State of Michigan to properly fund the public school system. *Id.* at 184. It concerned an interpretation of the Michigan Constitution to answer the question whether, even though state law mandated certain public school funding special education, the state was required to do so when the same funding was mandated by federal law. *Id.* at 188-89. In *Durant*, this Court held that a declaratory judgment was not an exclusive remedy but could be coupled with an action for damages. *Id.* As to an actual case or controversy, the Court addressed the fact that the case would be moot, noting that funding for the school years that were the subject of the suits was no longer at issue, but exercised its discretion to address the issue because it was capable of arising again. *Id.* at 201 n.29.

Finally, in *Detroit Base Coalition for Human Rights of Handicapped v Dep’t of Social Services*, 431 Mich 172; 428 NW2d 335 (1988), plaintiffs were recipients of state benefits and

their advocacy organizations who brought suit against the Department of Social Services (“DSS”). *Id.* at 175. The lower court entered a declaratory judgment determining that DSS’s promulgation of a policy of holding telephone hearings without first going through the Administrative Procedures Act’s (“APA”) rule-making procedures violated the APA. This Court also held that there was an actual controversy as to whether the DSS was under a duty to comply with the notice and public hearing requirements of the APA. *Id.* at 191.

None of these cases involve anything close to the question of whether a trust beneficiary may obtain a declaratory judgment as to whether she will lose her inheritance under an *in terrorem* clause if she challenges the trust. These cases also raised the question of whether there was an actual case or controversy, but they either found there was a controversy or this Court decided the case even though the question at issue had become moot. None of them involved a declaratory judgment as to a future hypothetical question.

C. *McLeod* is still good law and the Court of Appeals properly followed it.

Virtually the same factual situation as here was presented in *McLeod v. McLeod*, 365 Mich 25; 112 NW2d 227 (1961), which is directly on point. Plaintiff asked for a declaration as to whether he would be precluded by an *in terrorem* clause from receiving property interests devised to him under his father’s will if he instituted a suit for specific performance of a purported oral agreement with his father and failed to accomplish the desired result. *Id.* at 28-31. He did not know whether the proceeding would be a “contest” of the will, and asserted that, without the declaration of the court, the proceeding could be perilous and hazardous and result in the loss of the relatively small portion bequeathed to him under the will. *Id.* at 29. The trial court dismissed the complaint on the basis that there was no foundation for invoking the jurisdiction of the court under the statute relating to declaratory judgments. *Id.* at 30.

The statute under which *McLeod* was brought stated that “the court may, in cases of actual controversy, make binding declarations of rights. . . .” *Id.* (emphasis added). Similarly, the current declaratory judgment rule states, “(1) In a case of actual controversy within its jurisdiction, a Michigan court of record may declare the rights and other legal relations of an interested party seeking a declaratory judgment, whether or not other relief is or could be sought or granted.” MCR 2.605(A)(1) (emphasis added).

Michaluk claims that the *McLeod* case is from “an era of judicial resistance to declaratory judgments.” Appl at 16. Yet the declaratory judgment rule has not effectively changed – it still requires an actual case or controversy. Other than claiming that this Court effectively overruled or superseded *McLeod* via footnote eight in *Allstate v. Hayes*, an insurance coverage case completely unrelated to trust law, Michaluk relies only on law review articles and commentary. She cites no cases to support her position that settled law has changed.

Michaluk also asserts that the Court of Appeals’ reliance on *In re Perry Trust*, 299 Mich App 525; 831 NW 2d 251 (2013) was misplaced. Appl at 18. To the contrary, the *Perry Trust* case is right on point. Just like Michaluk, Mark Perry claimed that he was not challenging the trust itself, but he asked the probate court to find that the existence of probable cause rendered the no-contest clause unenforceable. *Id.* at 531. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, reasoning: “Because he stated in the body of his petition that he was not actually challenging the trust – and the no-contest clause is a provision in the trust – the probate court would have no authority to grant the requested relief.” *Id.* at 530 (emphasis added). The court went on to state, “When the petition is examined as a whole, it is clear that Mark Perry asked the probate court to examine his evidence and determine whether that *would* give him probable cause . . . if he *were* to challenge the Trust.” *Id.* at 531. Thus, “he essentially posed a hypothetical scenario to the

probate court and asked it to advise him about the probable application of a statute – MCL.700.7113 – to his proposed scenario.” The court concluded that “Mark Perry likely failed to allege a justiciable controversy,” but that the question before the court was whether Mark Perry’s petition itself amounted to a challenge that would trigger the no-contest clause, and the court held that it did not.

Here, following *McLeod*, the Court of Appeals held that “[t]he probate court should not have opined on the applicability of the *in terrorem* clause and should have dismissed petitioner’s petition as unripe and not presenting an actual case or controversy.” (Op at 4). Nonetheless, applying *Perry Trust*, the probate court properly found that filing the petition itself did not trigger the *in terrorem* clause.

This case is analogous to *Van Buren Charter Township v Visteon Corp*, 319 Mich App 538; 904 NW2d 192 (2017). There, the plaintiff township claimed that a disagreement existed regarding a provision in an agreement obligating the defendant to provide certain assistance in the event the plaintiff township suffered a shortfall in funds. *Id.* at 546. The township wanted to force negotiations with the defendant before any shortfall actually occurred. *Id.* at 546-47. The court held that because the contract was clear and unambiguous, there was no actual controversy until such time as the contract was breached, noting that a court does not create ambiguities to rewrite or rebalance the equities of a contract. *Id.* at 548-49. Likewise, a court should not rewrite trust agreements for the settlor.

Importantly, the declaratory judgment rule is intended to preserve rights and liabilities and is not a substitute for regular actions. *Rott v. Standard Accident Ins. Co.*, 299 Mich 384, 390; 300 NW134 (1941) (North, J., concurring specially). An actual controversy exists when a

declaratory judgment is necessary to guide a plaintiff's future conduct in order to preserve the plaintiff's legal rights. *Shavers v. Kelley*, 402 Mich 554, 588; 267 NW2d 72 (1978).

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